NO. 45396-7-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW CHERRY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

After Matthew Cherry invoked his right to remain silent, the arresting officer asked him a number of questions, including whether he would let the police search his car. Mr. Cherry said no, but he explained his answer with an admission to having used drugs that day. The officer called a drug detection dog to come to the scene and told Mr. Cherry his car would be impounded. Mr. Cherry relented and let the police search his car.

The trial court improperly ruled that Mr. Cherry's consent was freely and voluntarily obtained, even though it resulted from questions asked and statements made by the police after Mr. Cherry had asserted his right to remain silent. The fruits of the improperly elicited statements and warrantless search should be suppressed. In addition, Mr. Cherry repeatedly told the court he had irreconcilable differences with his attorney but no judge asked him or his attorney to explain the cause of the problem, in violation of his right to conflict-free counsel.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The police violated Mr. Cherry's right not to be compelled to give testimony or evidence against himself as guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9.

2. The police unreasonably searched Mr. Cherry's car without the authority of law, contrary to the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.

3. A judge who did not preside at the CrR 3.6 hearing lacked authority to sign the written findings formalizing the court's oral ruling.

4. CrR 3.6 Finding of Fact IV is not supported by sufficient evidence.¹

5. CrR 3.6 Finding of Fact VII, pertaining to whether Mr. Cherry felt coerced to consent to the search of his car, is not supported by sufficient evidence.

6. CrR 3.6 Finding of Fact X is not supported by sufficient evidence.

7. CrR 3.5 Finding of Fact IV is not supported by sufficient evidence.

8. CrR 3.5 Finding of Fact V is not supported by sufficient evidence.

9. CrR 3.5 Finding of Fact VIII is not supported by sufficient evidence.

¹ The written findings of fact and conclusions of law from the CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 hearings are attached as Appendix A and B.

10. To the extent CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law II is construed as a finding of fact, it is not supported by sufficient evidence.

11. To the extent CrR 3.5 Conclusion of Law II is construed as a finding of fact, it is not supported by sufficient evidence.

12. Mr. Cherry was denied his right to meaningful assistance of counsel by the court's refusal to inquire into his repeated complaints of irreconcilable differences with his assigned attorney, in violation of the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22.

13. The court lacked authority to impose legal financial obligations when it acknowledged Mr. Cherry's inability to pay.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. When a person invokes the right to remain silent after being arrested, the police must scrupulously honor the request and may not engage in conduct that prompts a response of potentially incriminating information. Mr. Cherry told the arresting officer he did not want to make any further statements after he received *Miranda* warnings, but the officer continued asking him questions, including whether he would consent to a police search of his car. Did the police violate Mr. Cherry's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and article I, section 9's more

protective prohibition against compelling a person to give evidence against himself?

2. A person's consent to let the police conduct a warrantless search of his car must be given freely and voluntarily. After Mr. Cherry was arrested for having a suspended driver's license, he ceded to the police request to search his car despite initially refusing to consent, asserting his right to remain silent, being told that a drug detection dog was coming because the police suspected he had drugs in the car, and learning that his car would be impounded by the police. Did the State prove that Mr. Cherry's consent to a car search was freely and voluntarily obtained in these circumstances?

3. A judge lacks authority to sign written findings of fact from a hearing at which the judge did not preside. The CrR 3.6 hearing was held several months before trial and the trial judge deferred to the prior judge's CrR 3.6 findings when considering the issues at the later CrR 3.5 hearing. Did the trial judge lack authority to sign CrR 3.6 written findings of fact and conclusions of law when that judge did not hear the testimony or enter the rulings at issue?

4. When an accused person informs the court of a substantial impairment in his relationship with his counsel, the court must consider

whether there is an irreconcilable conflict after conducting a private and in-depth inquiry. Mr. Cherry repeatedly informed the court that there were irreconcilable differences between himself and his attorney, but the court asked no further questions other than ascertaining from counsel whether he felt able to proceed. Did the court improperly refuse to inquire into Mr. Cherry's complaints about his ability to consult with his trial attorney?

5. As a matter of due process and by controlling statute, a court may not punish a person by assessing fees when it knows the person is unable to pay them. Did the court improperly order Mr. Cherry to pay thousands of dollars in nonmandatory legal financial obligations?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Bremerton police officer Steven Forbragd saw Matthew Cherry driving down the street and signaled for him to stop because he knew Mr. Cherry's driver's license was suspended for an unpaid ticket. 7/31/13RP 6-7. Mr. Cherry parked his car at the side of the road a few blocks after the officer signaled for him to stop. *Id.* at 8. He wanted his car to be in a safe spot so that he would not run the risk of having it towed. *Id.* at 19.

Officer Forbragd immediately arrested Mr. Cherry for driving with a suspended license in the third degree. *Id.* at 8. He handcuffed Mr. Cherry and put him in the rear of his police car. *Id.* Mr. Cherry admitted his license was suspended. 9/10/13RP 31. Officer Forbragd read Mr. Cherry his *Miranda* rights and Mr. Cherry said he did not want to make any further statements. 7/31/13RP 7-8, 10. Officer Forbragd asked him who had been in his car and Mr. Cherry told him the passengers' names. *Id.* at 9.

Officer Forbragd spoke with Mr. Cherry's two car passengers. Neither had a valid driver's license and the officer told both they needed to leave. 7/31/13RP 9. One passenger was angry over being stopped and forced to leave the car. *Id.* at 10.

A few minutes later, Officer Forbragd asked Mr. Cherry to give him permission to search his car. 7/31/13RP 11-12. Mr. Cherry said no, and told the officer there were not any drugs in the car because he had already used the drugs he had earlier in the day. *Id.* at 12. He said "he really didn't want us to search it." 9/10/13RP 33.

Officer Forbragd told Mr. Cherry he "had called out a drug detection dog to the scene" and they waited for the dog to come. 7/31/13RP 12. He also told Mr. Cherry that they would impound his

car. *Id.* at 13. Officer Forbragd believed there were drugs in the car because he knew Mr. Cherry and his passengers from other incidents and intended to search the car if he could get permission, even though he did not see any drugs in the car. *Id.* at 23.

Mr. Cherry begged Officer Forbragd not to tow the car. 7/31/13RP 19. He explained that the fees would be onerous. *Id.* Officer Forbragd understood that Mr. Cherry did not want the car towed but insisted he did not promise to cancel the tow truck if Mr. Cherry consented to the car's search. *Id.*

Officer Dale Roessel was at home, off-duty, when he was summoned to bring a drug detection dog to the scene. 7/31/13RP 31-32. Mr. Cherry asked him not to impound the car, but Officer Roessel denied telling Mr. Cherry that his cooperation would affect the impound decision. *Id.* at 36-37. However, he acknowledged that generally if someone is cooperative with the drug detection dog, he would not impound the car. *Id.* at 41.

While they were waiting for the drug detection dog, Mr. Cherry agreed to let Officer Forbragd search his car. *Id.* at 12. Afterward, the officers canceled the tow truck and left the car on the street. *Id.* at 20.

The dog did not “alert” when walking around the exterior of the car. 7/31/13RP 40. Although he alerted when inside the passenger compartment, there was no contraband inside the car. 9/11/13RP 107. Mr. Cherry then agreed that the police could look in his locked trunk. *Id.* at 37. Inside a backpack in the trunk, the police found a “meth pipe” in a cigarette pack. *Id.* at 38. Mr. Cherry admitted it was his pipe, used for smoking methamphetamine. *Id.* at 17.

While being booked into the jail, Officer William Izer thought Mr. Cherry might be hiding something and ordered a strip search. 9/11/13 RP 113. Mr. Cherry took off all his clothes. *Id.* at 114. As Officer Izer examined Mr. Cherry’s body, Mr. Cherry suddenly turned away, raising his arms like he was putting something toward his mouth. *Id.* at 115. Officer Izer immediately grabbed Mr. Cherry’s arms. *Id.* at 116. He found a small back pouch that had nothing inside. *Id.* at 117-18. Mr. Cherry said he did not want to get a drug charge. *Id.* at 93.

The State charged Mr. Cherry with unlawful possession of a controlled substance based on the residue in the pipe and tampering with evidence for his actions during the strip search. CP 33. Before his trial, Mr. Cherry repeatedly asked the court to appoint a different attorney, complaining that he had irreconcilable differences with his

lawyer Craig Kibbe. 6/25/13RP 4; 7/10/13RP 3; 8/26/3RP 1-2;
9/1013RP 20. Each judge refused without asking about the nature of the
problem, relying on the fact that the first judge had denied the request.
6/25/13RP 5; 7/10/13RP 3; 8/26/13RP 3; 9/10/13RP 20.

Before his trial, the court held separate CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6
hearings, finding the search of Mr. Cherry's car was consensual and his
statements were admissible as either the product of a voluntary
Miranda waiver or not elicited by police interrogation. CP 75-76, 79.
Mr. Cherry was convicted after a jury trial and received a standard
range sentence. CP 72, 85. Pertinent facts are discussed in further detail
in the relevant argument section below.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. **Once Mr. Cherry invoked his right to remain
silent, the police violated his state and federal
constitutional rights by asking him more
questions.**

a. *Mr. Cherry invoked his right to remain silent but the
police did not honor it.*

Police officers must advise arrested suspects of the right to
remain silent if they want to use the suspects' subsequent responses to
questioning as evidence against them. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S.
436, 444, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966); U.S. Const. amend. 5;

Wash. Const., art. I, § 9. An arrested person's right to cut off questioning is a "critical safeguard" of the privilege against self-incrimination. *Michigan v. Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96, 103, 96 S.Ct. 321, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975) (citing *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 474).

Once a custodially detained suspect asserts his right to silence, "the interrogation must cease." *Mosley*, 423 U.S. at 101 (citing *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 473-74). If an individual's right to cut off questioning is not "scrupulously honored," statements obtained after the suspect invoked his right to silence may not be used against him and must be suppressed at trial. *Mosley*, 423 U.S. at 104.

An accused person must invoke his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent unambiguously. *Berghuis v. Thompkins*, 560 U.S. 370, 381, 130 S.Ct. 2250, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098 (2010). However, a suspect "need not speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don." *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994). So long as the accused has made "some statement that can reasonably be construed to be an expression of a desire for [silence]," questioning must end. *Id.* A suspect's statement "that he did not want to talk," would "invoke[] his right to cut off questioning." *Thompkins*, 560 U.S. at 382.

The right to remain silent may be invoked by conduct, such as remaining silent when faced with questions, or by comment indicating a desire to not speak further to the police. *State v. Hodges*, 118 Wn.App. 668, 673, 77 P.3d 375 (2003). Here, Mr. Cherry said he did not want to make any further statements after he received *Miranda* warnings. 7/31/13RP 10. Mr. Cherry's remark indicated his intent to remain silent. *See Thompkins*, 560 U.S. at 382. The arresting officer understood that he was invoking his right to cut off questioning and he asked no further questions at that time. 7/31/13RP 19; 9/10/13RP 31. Yet the police did not honor his request as required by the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9. 7/31/13RP 11; 9/10/13RP 33.

To scrupulously honor a person's invocation of his right to remain silent, the police may not encourage the suspect to make further comments, subtly or directly. *See Mosley*, 423 U.S. at 100. A subsequent voluntary waiver may occur only if: (1) the police scrupulously honor the request to cut off questioning; (2) the police have not "engaged in further words or actions amounting to interrogation"; (3) the police have not used other "tactics tending to coerce the suspect to change his mind"; and (4) "the subsequent waiver

was knowing and voluntary.” *State v. Wheeler*, 108 Wn.2d 230, 238-39, 737 P.2d 1005 (1987).

Interrogation is not limited to express questioning; it also includes “any words or actions on the part of the police ... that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect.” *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 164 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980). Whether such words or actions were used by police depends “primarily upon the perceptions of the suspect, rather than the intent of the police.” *Id.*

None of the necessary conditions that would permit the police to elicit further information from Mr. Cherry were met in the case at bar.

b. *Mr. Cherry’s statements were made in response to deliberate police action after he invoked his right to remain silent.*

Because Mr. Cherry invoked his right to silence, police officers were required to “scrupulously honor” it by ceasing questioning immediately. *State v. Walker*, 129 Wn.App. 258, 273-74, 118 P.3d 935 (2005) (quoting *Mosley*, 423 U.S. at 104; *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 474). “Any statement taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise.” *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 474. The arresting officer asked Mr. Cherry direct questions

following his request to cut off questioning and also engaged him in conversation that would be reasonably likely to elicit statements from Mr. Cherry. Consequently, Mr. Cherry's later statements to the police were not validly obtained.

After Mr. Cherry told Officer Forbragd that he did not want to talk further in response to receiving *Miranda* warnings, Officer Forbragd asked Mr. Cherry to confirm the names of the passengers in his car. 7/31/13RP 8-9, 10. He asked if a licensed driver could take the car. *Id.* at 14. He also said to Mr. Cherry, "I was going to impound his car." 7/31/13RP 13.

Shortly after Mr. Cherry said he did not want to make further statements to the police, Officer Forbragd "asked" Mr. Cherry whether he would consent to the police searching his car. 7/31/13RP 11. Mr. Cherry remained handcuffed and seated in the patrol car. *Id.* at 8-9. Mr. Cherry said no to this question, but he further responded by saying, "[t]here are no drugs in there anyway. I used them all earlier." *Id.* at 12. These statements given in answer to the officer's question seeking consent to search the car were admitted at trial as part of the prosecution's case-in-chief. 9/11/13RP 83.

In addition to stating that the police would impound the car, Officer Forbragd told Mr. Cherry that he had called for “a drug narcotics dog” to come to the scene based on Mr. Cherry’s “history” and “the statements he made that he had already used drugs that day.” 7/31/13RP 12. While waiting for the drug detection dog, Mr. Cherry begged the officer not to impound his car. 7/31/13RP 19. He explained he had tried to park the car in a safe spot and he would not be able to afford towing costs. *Id.* The officer refused. *Id.* Mr. Cherry then agreed that the police could search his car. *Id.* at 12-13. During the search, Mr. Cherry made further statements to Officer Forbragd prompted by seeing the police search his car. 7/31/13RP 16-18; 9/10/13RP 33-34.

Mr. Cherry’s responses to the questions and statements of the officer do not constitute a waiver of his previously requested right to remain silent. In *Wheeler*, the court explained that while routine booking questions may be asked even when the suspect invokes his right to remain silent, this exception is narrow. 108 Wn.2d at 238. It is a “limited exception” permitting “background, biographical questions necessary to complete booking.” *Id.*

The police may not veer from the script of official booking questions to elicit information relevant to the investigation. *Id.* In

Wheeler, during booking at the police station, an officer asked the defendant if he knew another suspect in the case, which was not part of the regular booking questions. *Id.* at 239. This question constituted interrogation in violation of the Fifth Amendment right that Mr. Wheeler had asserted. *Id.* The officer was not free to take advantage of the booking process as a means for eliciting information about the incident after Mr. Wheeler invoked his right to remain silent. *Id.*

Here, the police were trying to investigate additional crimes beyond the suspended license offense for which Mr. Cherry was arrested. 7/31/13RP 8. Officer Forbragd admitted that he intended to search Mr. Cherry's car from the outset, even though he was arresting Mr. Cherry for driving with a suspended license. 7/31/13RP 23. By telling Mr. Cherry that a drug detection dog was on its way, the officer would reasonably expect to generate a reaction from Mr. Cherry. A person would also feel compelled to explain why he did not want the police to search his car. Mr. Cherry felt compelled to explain that he had used the drugs the officer suspected he possessed. 7/31/13RP 12; 9/10/13RP 33. Neither this statement nor his statement regarding consent to search the car should have been asked and the fruits of the illegality would not have been obtained but for the illegal questioning.

c. *Article I, section 9 expressly bars the police from failing to honor Mr. Cherry's invocation of his right to remain silent.*

By continuing to question Mr. Cherry and engage him in conversation about searching his car, the police violated not only the established protections of Fifth Amendment, but the more protective requirements of article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution. Examining the independent requirements of the state constitution under *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 65, 720 P.2d 284 (1986), demonstrates that the police violated Mr. Cherry's right to refuse to give evidence against himself.

i. *There are significant differences in the text of article I, section 9 and the Fifth Amendment.*

Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution provides, "No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to *give evidence* against himself." (emphasis added). By contrast, the Fifth Amendment provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to *be a witness* against himself." (emphasis added).

By using the word "witness," the Fifth Amendment focuses on the right not to testify against oneself at trial. *See Michigan v. Tucker*, 417 U.S. 433, 440, 94 S.Ct. 2357, 41 L.Ed.2d 182 (1974); *Cf. Crawford*

v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) (defining “witness” as person who “bears testimony”).

The framers of the Washington Constitution rejected a proposed version of article I, section 9 that would merely protect the right not “to testify against” oneself. *Journal of the Washington State Constitutional Convention, 1889*, at 498 (B. Rosenow ed. 1962). They favored the broader “give evidence” standard. *Id.* They also changed the structure of the constitutional provision from the Fifth Amendment, placing the double jeopardy clause after the right to be free from giving evidence against oneself, further demonstrating an intent to emphasize the right to remain silent. Art. I, § 9. The provision’s language expressly provides strong protection against self-incrimination at the investigatory stage of the criminal process.

In Massachusetts, the state constitution uses similar language as Washington’s, providing that no person shall be compelled to “furnish evidence against himself.” Mass. Const. art. 12. Its Supreme Court has construed this state constitutional provision as more protective than the Fifth Amendment in the context of determining whether a person has invoked the right to cut off police questions. *Commonwealth v. Clarke*, 960 N.E.2d 306, 319-20 (Mass. 2012). Similarly, the text of article I,

section 9 and its structural difference from the Fifth Amendment demonstrate the intent to confer stronger protection against self-incrimination in Washington. *See Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d at 65.

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