NO. 45396-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW CHRISTOPHER CHERRY,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF  
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Superior Court No. 13-1-00548-2

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

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

implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 588, citing *State v. Bustamante-Davila*, 138 Wn.2d 964, 981, 983 P.2d 590 (1999), *State v. Jensen*, 44 Wn.App. 485, 488, 723 P.2d 443 (1986); *Shoemaker*, 85 Wn.2d at 211–12. Factors which may be considered in determining whether one has voluntarily consented include whether *Miranda* warnings were given, the degree of education and intelligence of the individual, and whether he or she had been advised of the right to consent. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 588, citing *Bustamante-Davila*, 138 Wn.2d at 981–82; *Shoemaker*, 85 Wn.2d at 212. The various relevant factors are weighed against one another and no one factor is determinative. *State v. Smith*, 115 Wn.2d 775, 789, 801 P.2d 975 (1990); *Shoemaker*, 85 Wn.2d at 212.

In the present case the Defendant argues that his consent was not voluntary because he claims his consent was “the product of illegal police conduct.” App.’s Br. at 22. Specifically, the Defendant argues that: (1) because he had invoked his right to remain silent “the police were not even permitted to question [him] about whether he would consent to the search”; and (2) that he had little choice but to consent to the search because the police had informed him that they had called for a drug detection dog and would be impounding his car. App.’s Br. at 24-25. These claims are without merit for several reasons.

First, as discussed above it was not improper for the police to ask the Defendant for consent even though he had previously invoked his right to remain silent, as a request for consent is not interrogation.

Secondly, the record does not show that the Defendant had little choice but to consent to the search. The Defendant's claim in this respect appears to be based on the line of cases that hold that a defendant's consent is not truly voluntary when it only comes after the police have informed a defendant that they will be conducting the search with or without consent. *See, e.g., Bumper*, 391 U.S. at 548, 88 S.Ct. 1788.

In *Bumper* the Court held that because a warrant requires a suspect to submit to a search, police may not claim that the suspect consented by allowing a search authorized by a warrant if a court later finds the warrant invalid. *Bumper* 391 U.S. at 546, 88 S.Ct. 1788. In *Bumper* officers arrived at a person's home and announced that they had a search warrant to search the residence. The homeowner (the defendant's grandmother) then responded, "Go ahead." *Id* at 546. At trial, however, the State decided to rely on consent (rather than the warrant) to justify the search. The Supreme Court, however, held that a search cannot be justified as lawful on the basis of consent when that consent has been given only after the official conducting the search has asserted that he possesses a warrant.



*Id* at 549.<sup>3</sup> This holding, of course, merely acknowledges that when the police announce they have a warrant that an ordinary person would understand that they have no ability to prevent the search and thus their “consent” to allow the officers to execute the warrant is not voluntary. *Bumper*, 391 U.S. at 549 n.14.

Extending this logic, the Washington Court of Appeals has held that police also may not rely on consent that is obtained only after officers have misrepresented their authority to obtain a warrant and informed a homeowner that they had grounds for (and could obtain) a warrant when no such grounds actually existed. *State v. Apodaca*, 67 Wn.App. 736, 739–40, 839 P. 2d 352 (1992) (“Valid consent may be given following a threat to obtain a warrant. Threats to obtain a search warrant may, however, invalidate consent subsequently given if grounds for obtaining the warrant did not exist.”), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d 460, 901 P.2d 286 (1995).

---

<sup>3</sup> It was unclear from the facts in *Bumper* whether the officers actually had a warrant. The Supreme Court noted that at oral argument someone had mentioned that there had in fact been a warrant, but the Court noted that the warrant (if it existed) was never part of the record and the State had not relied on it below. *Bumper*, 391 U.S. at 590 n.15. The Court thus noted that,

A search conducted in reliance upon a warrant cannot later be justified on the basis of consent if it turns out that the warrant was invalid. The result can be no different when it turns out that the State does not even attempt to rely upon the validity of the warrant, or fails to show that there was, in fact, any warrant at all. *Bumper*, 391 U.S. at 545-50.

The Washington Supreme Court, however, has explained that conduct of this type (such as was found in *Bumper* and *Apodaca*) is distinguishable from a case where an officer simply states that he or she will request a warrant if consent is not given. For instance, in *State v. Smith*, 115 Wn.2d 775, 801 P.2d 975 (1990) officers arrested the defendant and then asked him for consent to search the trunk of his vehicle. When the defendant asked what would happen if he refused to consent, the police officer replied that the vehicle would be impounded and a search warrant would be sought. *Smith*, 115 Wn.2d at 790. The Defendant then consented to the search. On appeal the defendant argued that his consent was involuntary, citing *Bumper*. *Id* at 789-90. The Supreme Court rejected this claim, finding that

*Bumper* is distinguishable, however, because when asking to search the house of the defendant's grandmother, the police officer in *Bumper* claimed he had a search warrant when in fact he did not. In the instant case, Smith was never told that the officers had a search warrant. Smith was told that the officers would request a search warrant if Smith did not consent to the search. Nothing in the record supports the allegations that Smith was coerced into consenting to the search.

*Smith*, 115 Wn.2d at 790.

In light of the cases outlined above, the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the evidence

found during the search below was admissible.<sup>4</sup> To the contrary, the trial court correctly found that Defendant consented to the search of his car and that the police did not violate the Defendant's rights by asking for his consent (even though he had previously invoked his right to remain silent) as such a request does not constitute interrogation. In addition, the record does not demonstrate coercion as the officers did not misstate their authority in any way. In short, the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused in discretion in denying the motion to suppress.

**B. ALTHOUGH THE DEFENDANT IS CORRECT THAT THE WRITTEN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW FROM THE CRR 3.6 HEARING ARE INVALID AS THEY WERE NOT SIGNED BY THE JUDGE WHO PRESIDED OVER THAT HEARING, THIS ERROR IS HARMLESS AS JUDGE DIXON'S ORAL FINDINGS IN THE RECORD ARE SUFFICIENT TO ALLOW APPELLATE REVIEW.**

The Defendant next claims that the written CrR 3.6 findings of fact are invalid because they were not signed by the judge that presided over

---

<sup>4</sup> The Defendant's brief also contains a *Gunwall* analysis and a claim that Article 1, section 9 provides greater protection than the Fifth Amendment in the present context. App.'s Br at 16-22. The Defendant ultimately concludes that the police in the present case asked the Defendant "statements likely to elicit an incriminating response" and that the Washington constitution should somehow be construed to provide even greater protections against such conduct than the Fifth Amendment. App.'s Br. at 21-22. This argument, however, misses the point. A request for consent is not a question that is reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, as outlined above. The Defendant has failed to claim that the Washington constitution requires a different conclusion, not does any of the Defendant's discussion of the text or history of the Washington Constitution provide any support for his conclusion that a request for consent violated the

the CrR 3.6 hearing. App.'s Br. at 27. The State concedes that the written findings of fact and conclusion of law from the CrR 3.6 that were signed by Judge Laurie are invalid, as they were not signed by the judge (Judge Dixon) who presided over that hearing. This error, however, is harmless as Judge Dixon's oral findings in the record are sufficient to allow appellate review.

The Defendant correctly notes that Judge Dixon presided over the July 31, 2013 CrR 3.6 hearing. For reasons that are not entirely clear, Judge Dixon was apparently not available at the time the written findings were prepared. CP 77-80; RP (9/13) 2. The State explained to Judge Laurie that the Findings of Fact were "agreed" and asked if she would sign them. RP (9/13) 2. Judge Laurie asked defense counsel if he had any objection to her signing the written findings, and defense counsel stated that he had no objection. RP (9/13) 2. .

With respect to the CrR 3.5 hearing, Judge Laurie personally presided over that hearing and signed the written findings of fact for that hearing, thus there are no issues with respect to the validity of the CrR 3.5 findings. CP 73.

On appeal the Defendant argues that Judge Laurie did not have the authority to sign the written CrR 3.6 findings of fact and conclusions of

---

Defendant's constitutional rights.

law. App.'s Br. at 27. The Defendant's argument appears to be correct as the rule appears to be that a judge does not have authority to sign findings and conclusions if he or she did not preside over the relevant hearing. *See* RCW 2.28.030(2); *see also, DGHI Enters v. Pacific Cities, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 933, 977 P.2d 1231 (1999). The Findings of fact, therefore, are invalid and there are no valid written findings of fact for the CrR 3.6 hearing.

It is, of course, error for a trial court to failure to reduce its CrR 3.6 findings and conclusions to writing. Any such error, however, is harmless if the trial court's oral findings in the record are sufficient to allow appellate review. *State v. Thompson*, 73 Wn. App. 122, 130, 867 P.2d 691 (1994). Here, the trial court rendered detailed oral findings of fact and conclusions of law which are sufficient to allow this court to address the issues the Defendant raises on appeal. The error, therefore, was harmless.

Specifically, the trial court issued an oral ruling and said that he found the officers to be more credible than the Defendant. RP (7/31) 65. The trial court also specifically found that there had been "no threat to impound the vehicle if [the Defendant] did not consent" and that the Defendant had freely and voluntarily consented to the search. RP (7/31) 66. This was the only issue raised by defense counsel below at the CrR

3.6 hearing, and thus the trial court's findings are sufficient. Any error with respect to the written findings, therefore, was harmless.

**C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTS FOR A NEW ATTORNEY BECAUSE THE DEFENDANT'S COMPLAINTS DID NOT DEMONSTRATE A COMPLETE BREAKDOWN IN COMMUNICATIONS AND BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL ASSURED THE TRIAL COURT THAT HE WAS ABLE TO CONTINUE WORKING WITH THE DEFENDANT AND THAT THERE WAS NO REASON REQUIRING HIS REMOVAL FROM THE CASE.**

The Defendant next claims that the trial court impermissibly ignored his repeated complaints about his defense counsel. App.'s Br. at 33. This claim is without merit because the record shows that the trial court did not abuse in discretion in refusing to appoint new counsel as the Defendants complaints (and the defense counsel's statements about the alleged breakdown) did not demonstrate that there was a complete breakdown in communications between the Defendant and his trial counsel.

Whether an indigent defendant's dissatisfaction with his court-appointed counsel is meritorious and justifies the appointment of new counsel is a matter within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (*Stenson I*). Under an abuse of

discretion standard, the reviewing court will find error only when the trial court's decision (1) adopts a view that no reasonable person would take and is thus “manifestly unreasonable,” (2) rests on facts unsupported in the record and is thus based on “untenable grounds,” or (3) was reached by applying the wrong legal standard and is thus made “for untenable reasons.” *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 623, 290 P.3d 942 (2012) (quoting *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)).

A defendant does not have an absolute right under the Sixth Amendment to his choice of a particular advocate. *State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn.App. 258, 267, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007). To justify appointment of new counsel, a defendant “must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant.” *State v. Varga*, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) quoting *Stenson I*, 132 Wn.2d at 734.

Furthermore, a defendant does not become entitled to new counsel merely by claiming a conflict is irreconcilable. To determine whether the trial court erred and an irreconcilable conflict existed, this court is to consider: (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. *In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 723-24, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (*Stenson II*).

Although the Defendant in the present case mentioned the words “irreconcilable differences,” there is nothing in his oral or written statements that demonstrates a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the Defendant. Rather, the Defendant’s complaints demonstrated little more than disagreements on trial strategy and the Defendant’s dissatisfaction with the work he felt his counsel was putting in. See, e.g., CP 31-32, RP (6/25) 4-5.<sup>5</sup>

Furthermore, the trial court did not completely ignore the Defendant’s complaints. Rather, on two occasions (in response to the Defendant’s complaints) the trial court specifically asked defense counsel about whether there were any reasons that defense counsel could not continue as a counsel for the Defendant or any reasons that required his removal from the case. See, RP (7/10) 3, RP (8/26) 3. Both times defense counsel indicated there was no reason that he needed to be removed from the case or that there was no reason that he could not continue to work for the Defendant. As the Defendant’s complaints did not demonstrate a complete breakdown in communications, and as defense counsel indicated that there was no reason that he could not continue to work with the Defendant (despite the Defendant’s stated dissatisfaction with him), the

---

<sup>5</sup> Notably, on appeal the Defendant has not raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, nor has he otherwise pointed to any actions by his defense counsel that would suggest that he failed to adequately prepare for the trial or that the record demonstrates



trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Defendant's motion for substitute counsel.

**D. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER WAS CONSISTENT WITH WASHINGTON LAW. IN ADDITION, THE DEFENDANT WAIVED THE RIGHT TO RAISE THIS ISSUE ON APPEAL BY FAILING TO RAISE AN OBJECTION IN THE TRIAL COURT.**

The Defendant next claims that the trial court erred by imposing legal financial obligations even though the court "understood Mr. Cherry was unable to pay these fees." App.'s Br. at 41. Specifically, the Defendant claims that the trial court conceded that he "lacked the financial means to pay the many thousands of dollars that he owed" yet the trial court still imposed legal financial obligations. App.'s Br. at 42. This claim is without merit because the record shows no error and because the Defendant's specific claims misconstrue the actual record. Furthermore, the Defendant failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

In the present case the trial court's Judgment and Sentence contains a finding that "the Defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations." CP 90. The Defendant did not

---

that there was a complete breakdown in communications that somehow hampered the

object to the entry of this finding. The trial court then went on to impose several legal financial obligations. CP 90. Again, the Defendant did not object.

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